FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION II  
2016 JUL -5 AM 9:16  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
BY \_\_\_\_\_  
DEPUTY

No. 48244-4-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

**William Grisso,**

Appellant.

---

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 14-1-02695-3

The Honorable Judge Elizabeth Martin

**Appellant's Opening Brief**

Skylar T. Brett  
Attorney for Appellant

**Law Office of Skylar Brett**  
P.O. Box 18084  
Seattle, WA 98118  
(206) 494-0098  
skylarbrettlawoffice@gmail.com

pm 7/1/16

**

### ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The state presented insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Grisso of first degree murder.
2. No rational jury could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Grisso acted with premeditation.

**ISSUE 1:** An element has not been proved beyond a reasonable doubt when the state presents only equivocal evidence. Was there insufficient evidence for a rational jury to conclude that Mr. Grisso had premeditated intent to kill when the state showed only evidence that also had innocent explanations?

3. The court violated Mr. Grisso's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process by entering his conviction absent prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he had premeditated intent to kill.

**ISSUE 2:** The substantial evidence standard is inadequate to determine whether the state presented sufficient evidence for a jury to find a fact proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Should this court decline to follow authority improperly applying that lower standard to determine whether the state has met its burden to prove premeditation?

4. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived Mr. Grisso of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial.
5. The prosecutor committed misconduct by misstating the jury's role.
6. The prosecutor committed misconduct by mischaracterizing the state's burden of proof.
7. The prosecutor committed misconduct by appealing to the jury's passion and prejudice.
8. The prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant and ill-intentioned.

**ISSUE 3:** A prosecutor commits misconduct by mischaracterizing the jury's role and appealing to passion and prejudice. Did the prosecutor at Mr. Grisso's trial commit misconduct by encouraging the jury to convict him in order to

speaking the truth and to provide justice for the community and for the alleged victim?

9. The prosecutor committed misconduct by attempting to quantify the beyond a reasonable doubt standard.

**ISSUE 4:** A prosecutor may not trivialize the state's burden of proof by attempting to quantify it. Did the prosecutor at Mr. Grisso's trial commit misconduct by communicating to the jury that they were convinced of his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt if they had five out of six pieces of the "jigsaw puzzle"?

10. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 2.
11. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction violated Mr. Grisso's right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. I, § 3.
12. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction violated Mr. Grisso's right to a jury trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22.
13. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof and undermined the presumption of innocence.
14. The trial court's instruction improperly focused jurors on "the truth of the charge" rather than the reasonableness of their doubts.

**ISSUE 5:** A criminal trial is not a search for the truth. By equating proof beyond a reasonable doubt with "an abiding belief in the truth of the charge," did the trial court undermine the presumption of innocence, impermissibly shift the burden of proof, and violate Mr. Grisso's constitutional right to a jury trial?

15. The Court of Appeals should decline to impose appellate costs, should Respondent substantially prevail and request such costs.

**ISSUE 6:** If the state substantially prevails on appeal and makes a proper request for costs, should the Court of Appeals decline to impose appellate costs because Mr. Grisso is indigent, as noted in the Order of Indigency?



## STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

William Grisso and his son, Tim Grisso, had a history of problems in their relationship. Memorandum (filed 9/18/15), Supp CP; RP<sup>1</sup> 240. At one point, Tim<sup>2</sup> threatened to put Mr. Grisso in prison for the rest of his life. Memorandum (filed 9/18/15), Supp. CP.

A few months later, Mr. Grisso's fiancé, Nancy Gardner, disappeared. RP 287-291. Mr. Grisso called the police to report Gardner as a missing person. RP 283-284.

Mr. Grisso told the officer that he had come home from running errands and Gardner was not there. RP 298-291. He said that she had left all of her belongings, including her purse, but that her handgun was not where she usually left it. RP 291.

Mr. Grisso was worried that Gardner was suicidal because she had been showing signs of depression. RP 369, 827. Gardner had given Mr. Grisso her family's contact information the day before and told him to call them if anything happened to her. RP 289.

---

<sup>1</sup> All citations to the Verbatim Report of Proceedings refer to the chronologically numbered volumes spanning 9/11/15 through 10/8/15.

<sup>2</sup> Counsel will refer to Timothy Grisso as "Tim" throughout this brief to differentiate him from Mr. Grisso, the appellant. No disrespect is intended.

Mr. Grisso and Gardner had become estranged and he had recently asked her to move out of his home.<sup>3</sup> RP 451-452. He had also started seeing a previous girlfriend, Carolynne Rapier. RP 526-541.

Mr. Grisso cooperated with police fully. RP 482. He let them search his home, his truck, and Gardner's car. RP 435-438, 482-483. He gave Gardner's cellphone to the officers. RP 483.

Mr. Grisso told the officers that they would find a gun in his car. RP 435. He showed them his concealed weapon permit. RP 435.

Mr. Grisso went to stay with Rapier in her apartment while the police searched for Gardner. RP 436.

About a week after Gardner's disappearance, Mr. Grisso needed to go back to his house to get some belongings. RP 481. He called the police and asked for a civil standby because he was afraid that Gardner may have been at the house with a gun. RP 481, 558.

Mr. Grisso posted legal notices on his house, evicting Gardner. RP 426-427. One of the officers had told him he needed to do that if he didn't want her to be able to move back in when she returned. RP 428.

---

<sup>3</sup> Gardner told Mr. Grisso that she would move out when she was ready. RP 452. Mr. Grisso decided to let her stay because he was going to lose the house to foreclosure two months later anyway. RP 465

More than a week after Gardner's disappearance, the police found her decomposing body in a state park. RP 520-522. She had been shot in the head twice. RP 879-882.

The police arrested Mr. Grisso and the state charged him with first degree, premeditated murder. RP 645; CP 1-2.

While he was in jail, Mr. Grisso received letters addressed from Tim.<sup>4</sup> Ex 165-167. Tim confessed to the murder in the letters. Ex. 165. He said that he had made good on his threat to put his father behind bars. Ex. 166A.

Tim's girlfriend at the time of Gardner's murder testified at trial. RP 953-972. She said that Tim had borrowed her car and been gone all day on the day after Gardner went missing. RP 958-959. When she got her car back, her handgun had been moved from the center console to a container on the driver-side door.<sup>5</sup> RP 961.

The state presented evidence that Mr. Grisso's shoes had Gardner's blood on them. RP 900. The state also produced Mr. Grisso's cellphone records, showing that he had made calls on the day Gardner went missing

---

<sup>4</sup> The state's handwriting expert testified at trial that he could neither confirm nor dispel that the letters had been written by Tim. RP 1039.

<sup>5</sup> Tim's girlfriend's gun was made by one of the manufacturers listed as having possibly produced the gun that shot the bullets that killed Gardner. Memorandum (filed 9/18/15), Supp. CP. But a state witness opined that the bullets that killed Gardner could not have come from that specific gun because it was the wrong size. RP 863.

that transmitted from towers near where her body was found. RP 722; Ex. 97. The state claimed that Gardner's cellphone records indicated that she had been with Mr. Grisso the whole day. RP 666-691. The state also alleged that Gardner had taken pictures on her phone of flowers in the state park where her body was later found. RP 690. The police found the gun Mr. Grisso had reported missing at Rapier's apartment. RP 396-398. But Mr. Grisso's gun – which is very similar – was not found. RP 56.

During closing, the prosecutor argued that Mr. Gardner's text messages with Rapier from the day Gardner went missing -- in which he said he did not want to lose Rapier and invited her to his house later that evening – were evidence that he had formed premeditated intent to kill Gardner. RP 1110.

The prosecutor showed the jury a projected slide of a jigsaw puzzle. RP 1141-1147, 1151. When five of the six pieces were filled in, the prosecutor told the jury that:

... at some point, you've seen enough. You have enough evidence. You've seen enough pieces of the puzzle to know beyond a reasonable doubt what the picture portrays. You have an abiding belief in the truth that this is a picture of the Tacoma Dome. RP 1147.

The prosecutor ended his closing argument with this:

So the last thing I am going to ask you is to return the only verdict that reflects the truth of what happened, the only verdict that is just for Nancy Gardner, for her family and for our community.

RP 1147.

The court's instruction on the state's burden of proof informed the jury that they were convinced of Mr. Graves's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt if, after considering all of the evidence, they had "an abiding belief in the truth of the charge." CP 44.

The jury found Mr. Grisso guilty. CP 37. This timely appeal follows. CP 80.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. NO RATIONAL JURY COULD HAVE FOUND BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT MR. GRISSEO PREMEDITATED GARDNER'S DEATH.**

The state did not present any evidence that Mr. Grisso planned to kill Gardner. There was no indication that he made any statements or took any action toward harming Gardner in any way until the time of the shooting.

The state's evidence of premeditation consisted of two text messages that Mr. Grisso sent to Rapier: one saying that he did not want to lose her again, and one inviting her to his home that evening. Ex 47.

But that evidence proved only that Mr. Grisso planned to get back together with Rapier. He had already asked Gardner to move out and broken things off with her. RP 451-453. He did not need to kill her to rekindle his relationship with Rapier.

The state's evidence of premeditation was equivocal at best. As such, no rational jury could have found premeditation proved beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Bingham*, 105 Wn.2d 820, 823, 719 P.2d 109 (1986); *State v. Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d 1, 14, 309 P.3d 318 (2013).

A. The state's evidence was insufficient to prove that Mr. Grisso acted with premeditated intent.

To convict Mr. Grisso of first degree murder, the state was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he acted with premeditation. CP 1-2.

Premeditation is "the deliberate formation of and reflection upon the intent to take a human life. *Bingham*, 105 Wn.2d at 823. The element requires proof of "the mental process of thinking beforehand, deliberation, reflection, weighing or reasoning for a period of time, however short." *Id.* Premeditation must involve "more than a moment in point of time." *Id.*; RCW 9A.32.020(1).

Premeditation may be proved by circumstantial evidence only if "the inferences drawn by the jury are reasonable and the evidence supporting the jury's finding is substantial." *State v. Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570, 599, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995).

Thus, for example, proof that a killing occurred by manual strangulation, by itself, is insufficient to support a finding of

premeditation. *Bingham*, 105 Wn.2d at 828. This is because the state must prove actual deliberation, not the mere opportunity to deliberate. *Id.* at 827.

Typically, circumstantial proof of premeditated intent requires some showing that the accused planned the killing ahead of time or demonstrated clear intent to kill over more than a moment in time. *Id.*

There was no evidence at Mr. Grisso's trial that he deliberated upon or planned Gardner's death. The evidence that he intended to get back together with Rapier was only tenuously relevant because there was no evidence that he would need to kill Gardner in order to do so.<sup>6</sup>

Evidence is insufficient to prove an element of an offense when, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, no rational jury could have found the necessary facts proved beyond a reasonable doubt. *Bingham*, 105 Wn.2d at 823.

---

<sup>6</sup> The prosecutor also argued that the fact that Gardner was shot two times was evidence of premeditation. This court once held that the fact that the accused shot an alleged victim three times was sufficient to infer premeditation. *State v. Rehak*, 67 Wn. App. 157, 164, 834 P.2d 651 (1992). But, as argued below, *Rehak* and other similar cases violate due process by improperly applying the substantial evidence standard to the sufficiency analysis. *Id.*

The Supreme Court has also held that, standing alone, "multiple wounds and sustained violence cannot support an inference of premeditation." *Bingham*, 105 Wn.2d at 826. To reason otherwise would "obliterate[] the distinction between first and second degree murder." *Id.*

This court should not follow its prior holding in *Rehak*.

An element has not been proved beyond a reasonable doubt if the state presents only equivocal evidence. *Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d at 14. The state argued that Mr. Grisso's texts to Rapier saying that he did not want to lose her and inviting her to his home was evidence that he was planning to kill Gardner. But they also could have been evidence that he was planning to leave Gardner once and for all.<sup>7</sup> They could have been evidence that he was going to demand that Gardner move out of his home.<sup>8</sup>

Mr. Grisso's text messages were not proof beyond a reasonable doubt of premeditated intent to kill Gardner.

The prosecutor also claimed that Mr. Grisso's taking Gardner to a secluded area was evidence of premeditation. RP 1109. But the "secluded area" was a state park with flowers in bloom. RP 520-52, 690. People go there regularly for countless innocent purposes. Taking a friend for a walk in nature is not proof beyond a reasonable doubt of premeditated intent to kill them.

---

<sup>7</sup> Indeed, Mr. Grisso moved into Rapier's apartment the next day. RP 436.

<sup>8</sup> In fact, Mr. Grisso posted notice evicting Gardner from his home a few days later. RP RP 426-427.



The state's evidence of premeditation was equivocal at best.<sup>9</sup> No rational jury could have found premeditation proved beyond a reasonable doubt in Mr. Grisso's case. *Id.*

The state presented insufficient evidence to prove that Mr. Grisso formed the premeditated intent to kill Gardner. Mr. Grisso's conviction must be reversed.

- B. Equivocal evidence, alone, is insufficient to prove an alleged fact beyond a reasonable doubt. Insofar as prior authority can be read to uphold a conviction for first degree murder in the face of only the *possibility* that the accused acted with premeditation, that rule violates due process.

The requirement that the state prove each element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt is a bedrock principle of due process. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 363, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. Amend. XIV.

The substantial evidence standard is inadequate to determine the sufficiency of the evidence because it does not require proof beyond a reasonable doubt. *Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d at 6.

Even so, numerous Washington appellate cases have upheld jury findings of premeditation using the substantial evidence standard. Indeed,

---

<sup>9</sup> Presence of a weapon is not evidence of premeditation if the accused regularly carries the weapon. See *State v. Millante*, 80 Wn. App. 237, 248, 908 P.2d 374 (1995). Because Mr. Grisso regularly carried his handgun, its alleged presence at the state park was not evidence of premeditation. *Id.*; RP 435.

it has become axiomatic that circumstantial evidence is enough to support a finding of premeditation when “the jury’s inferences are reasonable and substantial evidence supports the jury’s verdict.” *See e.g. State v. Sherrill*, 145 Wn. App. 473, 484, 186 P.3d 1157 (2008).<sup>10</sup>

A careful reading of Washington premeditation precedent demonstrates that the courts’ use of the phrase “substantial evidence” was not just a poor choice of words. Rather, the courts regularly affirm premeditated murder convictions based on evidence of the mere *possibility* that the accused deliberated or reflected upon the killing ahead of time. *See e.g. State v. Ortiz*, 119 Wn.2d 294, 312-13, 831 P.2d 1060 (1992) *disapproved of on other grounds by State v. Condon*, 182 Wn.2d 307, 343 P.3d 357 (2015) (lapse in time gave the accused the opportunity to deliberate, so the jury was justified in finding that he did, in fact, deliberate); *State v. Gibson*, 47 Wn. App. 309, 734 P.2d 32 (1987) (same); *State v. Sargent*, 40 Wn. App. 340, 353, 698 P.2d 598 (1985) (same).

---

<sup>10</sup> *See also State v. Finch*, 137 Wash. 2d 792, 831, 975 P.2d 967, 991 (1999); *State v. Gentry*, 125 Wash. 2d 570, 598, 888 P.2d 1105, 1123 (1995), *aff’d sub nom. Gentry v. Sinclair*, 693 F.3d 867 (9th Cir. 2012), and *aff’d sub nom. Gentry v. Sinclair*, 705 F.3d 884 (9th Cir. 2013), and *aff’d sub nom. Gentry v. Sinclair*, 693 F.3d 867 (9th Cir. 2012), and *aff’d sub nom. Gentry v. Sinclair*, 705 F.3d 884 (9th Cir. 2013); *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wash. 2d 628, 643, 904 P.2d 245, 255 (1995); *State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wash. 2d 51, 83, 804 P.2d 577, 594 (1991); *State v. Longworth*, 52 Wash. App. 453, 467, 761 P.2d 67, 74-75 (1988); *State v. Bushey*, 46 Wash. App. 579, 584, 731 P.2d 553, 556 (1987); *State v. Gibson*, 47 Wash. App. 309, 310, 734 P.2d 32, 34 (1987); *State v. Luoma*, 88 Wash. 2d 28, 33, 558 P.2d 756, 759 (1977).

An element has not been proved beyond a reasonable doubt if the state presents only equivocal evidence. *Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d at 14. Insofar as Washington precedent can be read to permit a conviction for premeditated murder based only on evidence that the accused may have deliberated or had the opportunity to do so, that rule violates due process. *Winship*, 397 U.S. at 363; *Bingham*, 105 Wn.2d at 827.

The Court of Appeals and Supreme Court precedent applying the substantial evidence standard – rather than the beyond a reasonable doubt standard – to claims of insufficient evidence of premeditation on appeal is incorrect and harmful. Those cases violate due process and must be overruled. *Winship*, 397 U.S. at 363; *Rose v. Anderson Hay & Grain Co.*, 184 Wn.2d 268, 282, 358 P.3d 1139 (2015).

As the Supreme Court has recognized:

The facts of a savage murder generate a powerful drive, almost a juggernaut for jurors, and indeed for judges, to crush the crime with the utmost condemnation available, to seize whatever words or terms reflect maximum denunciation, to cry out murder “in the first degree.” But it is the task and conscience of a judge to transcend emotional momentum with reflective analysis.

*Bingham*, 105 Wn.2d at 827-28 (quoting *Austin v. United States*, 382 F.2d 129, 138-139 (D.C.Cir. 1967)).

Even if this court determines that the state presented enough evidence in Mr. Grisso’s case for a jury to conclude that he *could have*

premeditated Gardner's death, no reasonable fact finder could have found that he did so beyond a reasonable doubt given the equivocal evidence. Mr. Grisso's conviction must be reversed. *Winship*, 397 U.S. at 363; *Bingham*, 105 Wn.2d at 827.

## **II. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT DEPRIVED MR. GRISSO OF A FAIR TRIAL**

Prosecutorial misconduct can deprive the accused of a fair trial. *In re Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703-704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012); U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV, art. I, § 22.

To determine whether a prosecutor's misconduct warrants reversal, the court looks at its prejudicial nature and cumulative effect. *State v. Boehning*, 127 Wn. App. 511, 518, 111 P.3d 899 (2005). A prosecutor's improper statements prejudice the accused if they create a substantial likelihood that the verdict was affected. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704. The inquiry must look to the misconduct and its impact, not the evidence that was properly admitted. *Id.* at 711.

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