COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

WILLIAM GRISSO, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Elizabeth Martin

No. 14-1-02695-3

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By
MICHELLE HYER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 32724

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

In this case, the jury correctly found that the defendant premeditated to kill Gardner beyond a reasonable doubt. They did so using circumstantial evidence to infer intent. When using circumstantial evidence, the appellate courts review that jury's conclusion to determine if that conclusion was reasonable and if there is substantial evidence supporting it. *State v. Luoma*, 88 Wn.2d 28, 558 P.2d 756 (1977). The court's use of the "substantial evidence" standard to review a jury's finding does not lessen the State's burden at trial. The State's burden has always been to prove premeditation beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Neslund, 50 Wn. App. 531, 557-558, 749 P.2d 725, review denied, 110 Wn.2d 1025 (1988). Every case cited by the appellant to support his claim actually states that the correct standard is that the jury must find premeditation beyond a reasonable doubt. In this case, the jury's conclusion that the defendant premeditated to kill Gardner was reasonable and supported by substantial evidence, as argued above. Premeditation in this case was proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

3. THE DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF SHOWING PROSECUTORIAL ERROR⁴ OR THAT ANY UNCHALLENGED ARGUMENT WAS FLAGRANT AND ILL-INTENTIONED.

"Trial court rulings based on allegations of prosecutorial misconduct are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard." *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 718, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). To prove that a prosecutor's actions constitute error, the defendant must show that the prosecutor did not act in good faith and the prosecutor's actions were improper. *State v. Manthie*, 39 Wn. App. 815, 820, 696 P.2d 33 (1985) (*citing State v. Weekly*, 41 Wn.2d 727, 252 P.2d 246 (1952)). The defendant has the burden of establishing that the alleged error is both

⁴ "Prosecutorial misconduct' is a term of art, but is really a misnomer when applied to mistakes made by the prosecutor during trial." *State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 740 n. 1, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). Recognizing that words pregnant with meaning carry repercussions beyond the pale of the case at hand and can undermine the public's confidence in the criminal justice system, both the National District Attorneys Association (NDAA) and the American Bar Association's Criminal Justice Section (ABA) urge courts to limit the use of the phrase "Prosecutorial misconduct" for intentional acts, rather than mere trial error. *See* American Bar Association Resolution 100B (Adopted Aug. 9-10, 2010), http://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/migrated/leadership/2010/annual/pdfs/100b.authcheckdam.pdf (last visited March 14, 2016); National District Attorneys Association, Resolution Urging Courts to Use "Error" Instead of "Prosecutorial Misconduct" (Approved April 10, 2010),

http://www.ndaa.org/pdf/prosecutorial_misconduct_final.pdf (last visited March 14, 2016). A number of appellate courts agree that the term "prosecutorial misconduct" is an unfair phrase that should be retired. See, e.g., State v. Fauci, 282 Conn. 23, 917 A.2d 978, 982 n. 2 (2007); State v. Leutschaft, 759 N.W.2d 414, 418 (Minn. App. 2009), review denied, 2009 Minn. LEXIS 196 (Minn., Mar. 17, 2009); Commonwealth v. Tedford, 598 Pa. 639, 960 A.2d 1, 28-29 (Pa. 2008). See also Kansas v. Sherman, __ Kan. __, __ P.3d __ (2016) (whenever a clam is asserted that any act of a prosecutor has denied a criminal defendant his or her due process rights to a fair trial, the Kansas Supreme Court will refer to the claim and judicial inquiry as a claim of "prosecutorial error"). In responding to appellant's arguments, the State will use the phrase "prosecutorial error." The State urges this Court to use the same phrase in its opinions.

improper and prejudicial. *Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d at 718. Even if the defendant proves that the conduct of the prosecutor was improper, the misconduct does not constitute prejudice unless the appellate court determines there is a substantial likelihood the error affected the jury's verdict. *Id.* at 718-19.

A defendant claiming prosecutorial error bears the burden of demonstrating that the remarks or conduct was improper and that it prejudiced the defense. *State v. Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570, 640, 888 P.2d 570 (1995) *citing State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d 51, 93, 804 P.2d 577 (1991). If a curative instruction could have cured the error and the defense failed to request one, then reversal is not required. *State v. Binkin*, 79 Wn. App. 284, 293-294, 902 P.2d 673 (1995), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Kilgore*, 147 Wn.2d 288, 53 P.3d 974 (2002). Failure by the defendant to object to an improper remark constitutes a waiver of that error unless the remark is deemed so "flagrant and ill-intentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury." *Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d at 719, *citing Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d at 593-594.

When reviewing an argument that has been challenged as improper, the court should review the context of the whole argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument and the instructions given to the jury. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85-6, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) *citing State v. Graham*, 59 Wn. App. 418, 428, 798 P.2d

314 (1990). "Remarks of the prosecutor, even if they are improper, are not grounds for reversal if they were invited or provoked by defense counsel and are in reply to his or her acts and statements, unless the remarks are not a pertinent reply or are so prejudicial that a curative instruction would be ineffective." *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 86, *citing State v. Dennison*, 72 Wn.2d 842, 849, 435 P.2d 526 (1967). The prosecutor is entitled to make a fair response to the arguments of defense counsel. *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 87.

"Without a proper timely objection at trial, a defendant cannot raise the issue of prosecutorial misconduct on appeal unless the misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that no curative jury instruction could have corrected the possible prejudice." *State v. Curtiss*, 161 Wn. App. 673, 250 P.3d 496 (2011); *State v. Larios-Lopez*, 156 Wn. App. 257, 260, 233 P.3d 899 (2010) (citing *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 841, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006) (quoting *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 719, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), *cert. denied*, 523 U.S. 1008, 118 S. Ct. 1193, 140 L. Ed. 2d 323 (1998)). This is because the absence of an objection "strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial." *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990).

Even where there was a proper objection, an appellant claiming prosecutorial error "bears the burden of establishing the impropriety of the prosecuting attorney's comments and their prejudicial effect." *State v.*

Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 427, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009); State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 746-47, 202 P.3d 937 (2009); State v. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 134 P.3d 221 (2006) (quoting State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997); Beck v. Washington, 369 U.S. 541, 557, 82 S. Ct. 955, 8 L. Ed. 2d 834 (1962).

Hence, a reviewing court must first evaluate whether the prosecutor's comments were improper. State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 427, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009). "The State is generally afforded wide latitude in making arguments to the jury and prosecutors are allowed to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence." Anderson, 153 Wn. App. at 427-28, 220 P.3d 1273. It is not error for a prosecutor to argue that the evidence does not support a defense theory, State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 87, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) (citing State v. Graham, 59 Wn. App. 418, 429, 798 P.2d 314 (1990), State v. Contreras, 57 Wn. App. 471, 476, 788 P.2d 1114, review denied, 115 Wn.2d 1014, 797 P.2d 514 (1990)), and "the prosecutor, as an advocate, is entitled to make a fair response to the arguments of defense counsel." Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 87. Moreover, "[r]emarks of the prosecutor, even if they are improper, are not grounds for reversal if they were invited or provoked by defense counsel and are in reply to his or her acts and statements, unless the remarks are not a pertinent reply or are so prejudicial that a curative instruction would be ineffective." Id. at 86.

"A prosecutor's improper comments are prejudicial 'only where 'there is a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury's verdict.'" *State v. Yates*, 161 Wn.2d 714, 774, 168 P.3d 359 (2007) (quoting Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997); Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 747. "A reviewing court does not assess '[t]he prejudicial effect of a prosecutor's improper comments... by looking at the comments in isolation but by placing the remarks 'in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given to the jury." Id. (quoting Brown, 132 Wn.2d at 561; State v. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. 677, 683, 243 P.3d 936 (2010).

"[R]emarks must be read in context." State v. Pastrana, 94 Wn. App. 463, 479, 972 P.2d 557 (1999), abrogated in part on other grounds by State v. Gamble, 154 Wn.2d 457, 114 P.3d 646 (2005); State v. Larios-Lopez, 156 Wn. App. 257, 261, 233 P.3d 899 (2010).

Prosecutorial error may be neutralized by a curative jury instruction, *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), and juries are presumed to follow the court's instructions. *State v. Weber*, 99 Wn.2d 158, 166, 659 P.2d 1102 (1983).

In the present case, although the defendant argues that the State committed error in two ways, Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 15-20, he is incorrect.

a. The state's argument asking the jury to return a verdict of guilty was proper and, even if prosecutorial error, was not objected to.

In closing argument, a prosecutor is permitted to argue the facts in evidence and reasonable inferences therefrom. *State v. Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d 559, 577, 79 P.3d 432 (2003); *State v. Smith*, 104 Wn.2d 497, 510, 707 P.2d 1306 (1985). The prosecutor does not shift the burden of proof when it points out the evidentiary deficiencies of defendant's arguments. *See Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 85-86.

A jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions regarding the proper burden of proof. *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 861-2, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006), *overruled on other grounds by State v. W.R.*, 181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014). A jury is presumed to follow the trial court's instructions. *State v. Lough*, 125 Wn.2d 847, 864, 889 P.2d 487 (1995).

In this case, the court instructed the jury on the law including the reasonable doubt standard and the presumption of innocence.

The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty. That plea puts in issue every element of the crime charged. The State is the plaintiff and has the burden of proving each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists as to these elements.

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout the entire trial unless during your

deliberations you find it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. If, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

CP 40-57, Instruction 2, *see also* Washington Pattern Jury Instructions Criminal, WPIC 4.01. Further, the court instructed the jury, in part:

The lawyer's remarks, statements, and arguments are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law. It is important, however, for you to remember that the lawyers' statements are not evidence. The evidence is the testimony and exhibits. The law is contained in my instructions to you. You must disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is not supported by the evidence or the law in my instructions.

CP 40-57, Instruction 1, *see also* Washington Pattern Jury Instructions Criminal, WPIC 1.02.

The jury instructions make it clear that the State had the burden of proof and that the jury was the sole judges of credibility. The State also told the jury that they must be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt. RP 1108, 1115. The defense also told the jury that the elements must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. RP 1118. The State reiterated in rebuttal that it had the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. RP 1146.

In rebuttal closing, the State made the following statement:

For example, in this case, the crime is not on videotape. There are no eyewitnesses. But what you do have is enough pieces of the puzzle, enough evidence to know what happened here, to have an abiding belief in the truth of what happened here.

So the last thing I am going to ask you is to return the only verdict that reflects the truth of what happened, the only verdict that is just for Nancy Gardner, for her family and for our community. Thank you.

RP 1147.

There is nothing improper about the State's argument. The statement about the verdict reflecting the truth that immediately precedes the State's concluding remarks discussing the abiding belief jury instruction, which as argued below, was properly given in this case. It is clear that the State's comment that the verdict "reflect the truth" relates directly back to the abiding belief instruction in the sentence before. There was no objection by the defense. Therefore, the appellant must prove, even if the comment was improper, that such comment was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that a curative instruction would have cured it. In this case, not only was the comment proper, but it was in line with the burden of proof and the jury instructions. There was no error.

The appellant relies on *State v. Thierry*, 190 Wn. App. 680, 360 P.3d 940 (2015). Brief of Appellant at p. 15. *Thierry*, however, is distinguishable from this case. First, the defendant raised a timely objection in *Tierry*. Second, the prosecutor in *Thierry* raised policy

argument to the jurors that a guilty verdict was needed in order to protect future sexual assault victims from abuse. *Thierry*, 190 Wn. App. at 691. In this case, no such argument was made. The State did not argue that a guilty verdict was necessary to protect future potential victims of homicide. The State's comment was mere rhetoric that asked the jury, in essence to return a just verdict. The comment also clearly related back to the comments regarding an abiding belief in the truth of the charge.

Moreover, the argument almost identical to that made in *Thierry* was reviewed in *State v. Smiley*, __ Wn. App. ___, __ P.3d ___ (2016). In *Smiley*, the State made a policy argument that the State might as well given up prosecuting sex abuse cases if the victim's word is insufficient for conviction. *Id.* at *5. The court affirmed Smiley's conviction, holding that any prejudice would have been curable and no objection was raised. *Id.* at *6.

While this case is distinguishable from both *Thierry* and *Smiley*, it is more similar to *Smiley* in that no objection was made to the comment. Unlike either case, however, the comment here—that the verdict reflect the truth of what happened—related directly to the reasonable doubt instruction and was proper based on the instructions. If this court were to find that the comment was not proper, however, any prejudice would have been cured by a timely objection and curative instruction, therefore any error was harmless.

b. The Prosecutor's puzzle analogy was proper.

The State argued in rebuttal closing:

So let's say you have a jigsaw puzzle, and let's say you get some pieces of the puzzle, you get some evidence, but it's not enough pieces. It's not enough evidence to know beyond a reasonable doubt what the picture portrays.

And then you get some more pieces and some more evidence, and it's still not enough for you to have an abiding belief in the truth of what the picture portrays.

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